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Ordnance Survey 25” Wiltshire Sheet XL..14 Second Edition

Date.

The Second Edition of OS Sheet Wiltshire XL.14 was revised in 1899 and published in 1900.

Relevance.

The OS County Series 25 inch mapping was predominantly used for professional purposes rather than
for navigation. They are detailed enough to show gates/barriers on roads, tracks and paths. Parcels of
land are numbered and areas are shown either under the parcel number of in separate “Area Books” (on
some First Edition sheets).Second edition and later maps generally carry the disclaimer “The
representation on this map of a Road, Track or (Foot)path is no evidence of the existence of a right of
way”. However, scrutiny of some of the detail contained along with contemporary published guidance
allows some inferences as to status of routes to be drawn. Additionally, on the first edition only, colour
was used on some sheets to give significance to certain features (roads, buildings, water features, etc.)

Archive. WSHC OS25inch sheets

Meaning.

Sheet XL.14 is uncoloured.

The application route is the western part of a fenced, uncoloured strip of land, numbered (189) and
measured (2.335) separately from the land adjoining it. It is not labelled F.P. nor B.R.

Assessment.

This is evidence of the existence of the application route in 1899.
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That the land of which the application route is part is separately numbered and measured suggests it
was not considered part of the land on either side and suggests it was a public road:

“It was the practice of the OS to allocate parcel numbers to distinct pieces of land and number them.
These are numbered and recorded on the maps as acreages. Where applicable parcels were braced with
adjoining parcels — for example, a track across a field may be braced in with the surrounding land and
measured with that. However, some features 'are always separately numbered and measured
irrespective of their size. They include railways in rural areas (in built up areas they may form part of
the "Town area’), all public roads, whether fenced or unfenced and foreshore and tidal water."”. From
Ordnance Survey Maps, a descriptive manual by J B Harley (published by the Ordnance Survey in
1975).

It is not conclusive of vehicular rights that the route is neither labelled “F.P” nor “B.R” but suggestive
of them.

As the application route is shown connecting to another clearly depicted route the applicant concludes
that the application route was part of the local public road network.

Besides its value as evidence supportive of the application this map also supports other evidence. A
road discussed in the 1906 Devizes RDC Sanitary and Roads Committee is referred to in them as being
numbered 189, and the application route is the western end of land parcel 189. Additionally, the
Devizes RDC Register of Rights of Way under the 1932 Act describes Cemetery Lane as running from
New Road to the Cemetery and thence to the Lavington — Urchfont Road. That cemetery is shown on
this map adjacent to land parcel 189.
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Devizes Rural District Council (RDC) Minutes (1906)

Date. 1906
Relevance.

In 1906 responsibility for the maintenance of highways rested with the Rural District Councils and
remained so until it became that of the County Council at the end of the 1920s.

Archives. WSHC, Ref. G5/100/5
Evidence.
Pages 70 & 71 20™ February 1906 :

Starting on page 69 the RDC minutes for 20 February 1906 report on the Sanitary and Roads
Committee,

On page 70 the minute reads (relevant part only extracted):

“The minutes also recorded that a Special Meeting had been held at the Clerks Office on I*' February,
at which

The Clerk reported that on the previous Monday, the 29" January he had been issued with a Summons
by a Mr James Gorrie(?) Heggie (?) under the Highway Act charging the Council with neglecting and
omitting to perform its duties and liabilities with regard to 3 highways, viz

(a) A highway commencing at Lodge Hill and passing through Lavington and Fiddington Sands to its
Jjunction with the Road or Highway from Easterton, Wilts , being the road numbered 108 on the
Ordnance Survey joining the highway at Easterton near the Royal Oak

(b) A Highway starting at a point near Fiddington Asylum and continuing in a north-westerly
direction until it joins the road before described near to “Elm Villa” being the road numbered 189
on the said Ordnance Survey

After some discussion it was resolved to hold a Special meeting the next day to inspect the roads
referred to in the Summons.”

Land parcel 189 on OS 25 inch Wiltshire Sheet XL..14 (published 1900) is the entire length of Drove
Lane (known in 1906 as Cemetery Lane).

Clearly, in bringing the summons, Mr Heggie though it was a public highway.

Photo: 1906-02-20 Devizes RDC MLAYV Drove Lane (G5-100-5 p70): Photo of page 70. The
relevant text is on the right-hand page.

Continuing on page 71:

“The minutes also recorded that on the 2" February the Committee accompanied by the Surveyor and
Clerk, had inspected

(c) The road from Russell Mill to Lodge Hill

(a) They then inspected Road “A” from Lodge Hill through Fiddington Sands to Oak Lane following
the same to the Royal Oak at Easterton

(b) They also inspected Road “B” from opposite Fiddington Asylum to the Villa in Fiddington Sands,
this road being known as Cemetry Lane.”

Photo: 1906-02-20 Devizes RDC MLAYV Drove Lane (G5-100-5 p71): Photo of page 71. The

relevant text is at the top of the left-hand page. Both the summons and the minute referred to Cemetery
Lane / Land Parcel 189 as a road.
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Assessment.
These two minutes are simply restating those of the Sanitary and Roads Committee.

The Summons refers to land parcel 189 as a “road” and the minutes refer to having inspected ¢ “Road
“B” ¢ and ‘this road being known as Cemetery Lane”.

If Land Parcel 189 was considered to be private then the RDC would certainly have said so, and would
not have inspected it.

The Summons and the response by the RDC both clearly suggest that land parcel 189 i.e. the entire
length of what is in 2024 named Drove Lane, was a public road.
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Devizes Rural District Council (RDC) Roads and Sanitary Committee Minutes (1906)

Date. 1906

Relevance.

In 1906 responsibility for the maintenance of highways rested with the Rural District Councils.
Archives. WSHC, Ref. G5/113/3

Meaning.

This volume of minutes covers the period 1904 — 1908. Two entries concern Cemetery Lane, as Drove
Lane was then known; one 1% Feb. 1906 and another on 2nd Feb. 1906.

Entry 1, 1% February 1906, (pages 99&100) reads (irrelevant wording omitted):

“At a Special meeting of the Sanitary and Roads Committee held at the Clerks office on Thursday the
1% February 1906 ...

“The Clerk reported that on the previous Monday the 29" January he had been served with a Summons
issued by a Mr James Gorrie Heggie under the Highways Act charging the Council with neglecting and
omitting to perform its duties and liabilities with regards to highways, viz:

(a) A Highway commencing at Lodge Hill and passing through Lavington and Fiddington Sands to its
Jjunction with the road or Highway from Easterton, Wilts, being the road numbered 108 on the
Ordnance Survey joining the Highway at Easterton near the Royal Oak

(b) A Highway starting at a point near Fiddington Asylum and continuing in a north westerly direction
until it joins the road before described near to Elm Villa being the road numbered 189 on the said
Ordnance Survey

(c) A Highway running Easterly from the Village of Littleton Pannell ... .....

After some discussion it was resolved to hold a Special meeting the next day to inspect the roads
referred to in the Summons.”

Photo: 1906-02-01 Devizes S&R (G5-113-3 p99): The road numbered 189 on the OS 25inch Wiltshire

Sheet XL.14 Second Edition (published 1900) is Drove Lane, or Cemetery Lane as it was known in
1906

Entry 2, 2™ February 1906 (page 101)_reads:

“At a Special meeting of the Committee at Littleton on Friday 2™ February 1906
( C ) The Committee inspected the road (C ) from Russell Mill to Lodge Hill

(A ) They then inspected Road “A” from Lodge Hill through Fiddington Sands to Oak Lane following
the same to the Royal Oak at Easterton

( B ) They also inspected Road “B” from opposite Fiddington Asylum to the Villa in Fiddington Sands
this road being known as Cemetry Lane”

Photo: 1906-02-02 Devizes S&R (G5-113-3 p101): the minutes refer to Cemetery Lane as a road.
Assessment.
The land parcel numbered 189 on the Ordnance Survey map (OS 25inch Wiltshire Sheet XL.14

Second Edition (published 1900)) is Drove Lane, known in 1906 (as shown by these minutes) as
Cemetry (sic) Lane.
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An extract of OS 25inch Wiltshire Sheet XL.14 Second Edition (published 1900) showing land parcel
189 is amongst the evidence adduced for this application.

The Summons refers to land parcel 189 as a “road” and the minutes refer to having inspected ¢ “Road
“B” ¢ and ‘this road being known as Cemetery Lane”.

If Land Parcel 189 was considered to be private then the RDC would certainly have said so and would
not have inspected it.

That the Committee inspected Cemetry Lane at all indicates they considered it a public highway; they
refer to it throughout as a road, and nothing suggests they were ever interested in only part of the road.

The Summons and the response by the RDC both clearly suggest that land parcel 189 i.e. the entire
length of what is in 2024 named Drove Lane, was a public road.

Because in 1906 responsibility for maintenance of highways rested with the RDC, with that

responsibility managed by the Roads and Sanitary Committee, these minutes are strong evidence that in
1906 the whole length of Cemetry Lane was a public vehicular highway, or at least a public bridleway.
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Devizes Rural District Council (RDC) Sanitary and Roads Committee Minutes (1914)

Date. 1% April 1914

Relevance.

In 1914 responsibility for the maintenance of highways rested with the Rural District Councils.
Archives. WSHC, Ref. G5/113/4

Meaning.

An entry appears in the minutes of the Devizes RDC Sanitary and Roads Committee minutes for 1%
April 1914, concerning Cemetery Lane. Cemetery Lane was renamed as Drove Lane in the 1950s. An
extract of the Wiltshire Highway Record map with the application route which runs along the western
end of Drove Lane annotated “CEMETERY LANE” has been submitted as part of the evidence for this
application.

The entry, which runs over two pages, reads as follows (irrelevant wording omitted):

“Market Lavington

A letter from the Market Lavington Parish Council was read that the following matters were before the
above council at their Annual Parish Meeting

The very bad state of
1. The footpath leading towards West Lavington across the Clay especially the portion across the

Recreation Ground.
2. The top portion of Cemetry Lane near “Crossways”, and

As the Parish Council was unable to deal with these matters it was unanimously resolved to refer them
to the Rural District Council
The Surveyor in answer to the Chairman reported as to no. 1. ...........

As to no. 2. The reason why the top portion of Cemetery Lane was in a bad condition was owing to the
long spell of wet weather

He was directed to attend to it when the weather improved
Astono3. ......"
Photo: 1914-04-01 Devizes S&R MLAYV (G5-113-4 (1)): Relevant text is at the bottom of the page.

Photo: 1914-04-01 Devizes S&R MLAYV (G5-113-4 (2)): Relevant text is at the top of the page
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According to the Wiltshire Council Rights of Way Explorer online map (in 2024) Crossways House is
situated at the western end of Drove Road adjacent to bridleway MLAV 1B and Crossways Cottage is
found a few yards further north along MLAV1B.

Screenshot: 2024 Wiltshire Council Rights of Way Explorer - Crossways:

Assessment.

The Wiltshire Council Rights of Way Explorer map makes it highly likely that ‘near Crossways” refers
to the western end of Cemetery Lane i.e. the application route..

These minutes make it clear that 1) the Parish Council considered that the RDC were responsible for
the maintenance of the top portion of Cemetery Lane, and 2) that, by instructing the Surveyor to attend
to the problem, the RDC accepted that that was the case.

These minutes are good evidence that both Market Lavington Parish Council and Devizes Rural

District Council considered, in 1914, that the top portion of Cemetery Lane (i.e.the application route)
was a public highway, maintainable by the RDC.
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